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  I should first record with deep gratitude my debt to the libraries where I have worked on this book: especially, and as ever, the National Library of Scotland, always so

  welcoming; then others I was new to, or almost, the special collections of Glasgow University Library, housing the papers of Principal John Stirling; the Huntington Library at San Marino,

  California, final destination of papers of the Earls of Loudoun; and the William A. Clark Memorial Library of the University of California at Los Angeles, where the cross-referencing of a huge

  collection of print from the eighteenth century, a good deal of it not available in Scotland, is a wonder to behold – and where the technophobia of the scholar will be instantly dispelled by

  the courteous care of the staff. During the months of research and writing I have discussed problems and ideas with many colleagues, but faults and errors in the final text are my own.




  The book is written to mark the 300th anniversary of the Union between Scotland and England which falls on May 1, 2007. In England it is not a date likely to loom large even in the minds of most

  people interested in history; in standard works on the period, it generally takes up no more space than other domestic developments in Britain, the Act of Settlement, for example, and less space

  than the War of the Spanish Succession, one of the great stepping stones to global power for the United Kingdom about to be born.




  A historian may despair of bringing the English to any deeper appreciation of the Union’s importance, as one of the acts of foundation of the state we all live in. Among Scots there is no

  such problem, since the Union stands as a central event, perhaps the central event for good or ill, in the two millennia of their recorded history. At any rate it must rank along with Wars of

  Independence, Reformation, Enlightenment and Empire as one of the keys to understanding what Scotland is and what Scotland means, or how her always uncertain history may yet

  run.




  Yet the historiography of the Union is by no means in a settled or even a satisfactory condition. Till the mid-twentieth century, at least, it was marked by the same complacent unionism as

  pervaded many other spheres of Scottish discourse, scarcely questioning that the nation had for 250 years lived on in the best of all possible worlds, otherwise known as the United Kingdom. While

  some of the transactions in 1707 did look a bit murky, we could be confident they had been inspired at heart by farsighted statesmanship which, if never expressed in anyone’s actual words at

  the time, could still be inferred from its beneficent results.




  But in the late twentieth century, and for a range of reasons needing no rehearsal here, the United Kingdom slid into crisis, external and internal, in its relations to the outside world and in

  the relations of its component parts. One result came in the emergence or re-emergence of Scottish nationalism, which among scholars sympathetic to it demanded a rewriting of history so as to point

  towards a conclusion hardly even dreamed of before, the restoration of national independence. Oddly, the most striking reflection of this in the historiography of the Union came not in Scotland at

  all but in the work of the late Dr P.W.J. Riley at the University of Manchester, who for all I know had no personal opinion whether the United Kingdom should endure or not. In a fecund series of

  books and articles he set out an unsparing interpretation of the Union as a gross political job, typical of its time yet egregious in the way it betrayed the independence of a nation so long

  vindicated by a proud people against the odds. Riley struck the tone which colours one side of the ensuing debate down to the present, amid which his own views have been amplified in various

  aspects by the work of William Ferguson and Paul Scott, among others.




  Yet it was not as if the Union would die quietly, either in real life or within the covers of books. Just as the United Kingdom was able to reassert its claims on the loyalties of Scots, and not

  without success after suitable political accommodation, so unionist historians have refused to swallow the claims of nationalist scholarship and have answered back. In books by Christopher Smout,

  Thomas Devine and Christopher Whatley, the smugness of earlier unionism vanished and some tougher thinking went into the task of parrying the undoubtedly cogent contentions of nationalism. It yet

  seems to me a shame that this revived unionist school has been unable to find a more robust base for its counterattack than a sort of Marxist determinism without the

  Marxism, in other words, a reiteration of the idea that Scotland’s economic woes made Union inevitable.




  That is to say, we still have a problem with this central enterprise of Scottish historiography. Detachment is hard to attain. Had I not read a word of what all the scholars mentioned above

  found to write, I still think I could have made a good guess at which views they would espouse. There remains a tendency, if not here then elsewhere, for people to start off from their own attitude

  towards the Union and then seek justification for it in whatever historical evidence comes to hand. I would, however, certainly exempt Riley from my stricture. It seems to me that his fault, if

  any, was the more innocent one of excessive academic shock at the seamy side of politics, in particular of Scottish politics. Having myself dabbled in both the political and the academic life of

  Scotland, I hope I am free of illusions on either score.




  Readers acquainted with my previous works may be surprised by the conclusion I reach at the end of this one (look now). I decided the way to approach the Union was to take nothing for granted

  but give a close reading to the evidence, as free of prejudice as I could render myself, and let it lead me where it might: hence the conclusion. I am especially pleased at one product of my

  labours, the at least partial reconstruction of certain crucial debates in the last Scots Parliament. Its sessions between 1702 and 1707 were often dramatic, as worthy of attention as any other

  parliamentary occasions in British history. But their flavour has been lost in the existing literature. Records of proceedings are infuriating in that they quote the speeches, often at length, yet

  omit, except in a few instances, to say who the speaker was; some convention of propriety appears to have dictated this bizarre reticence. Words disembodied from their speakers lose interest, but

  there are enough private memoirs of proceedings to have allowed me, by diligent attention to and collation of sources, to name the sequence of speakers in some debates with reasonable certainty,

  though the word ‘probably’ will be found hovering nearby if I am much less than certain.




  My conclusion does not wholly concur with either side in the debate on the Union as described above. In particular, for example, I am unable to accept that the struggle over the terms of the

  treaty in the final session of the Scots Parliament was nothing more than a thin disguise for the brutal process of ramming a done deal through – the view put forward by Paul Scott or if

  anything yet more strongly by the late David Daiches. And persuasive as Riley’s particular arguments often are, still I find it hard to agree with his general view

  that contemporary politicians were never moved by anything higher than the basest personal motives; politicians in all times and places have been moved by the basest personal motives, yet may

  manage to find at least a little room in their hearts and minds for a few higher considerations. If I would force myself to concede that even in the Scotland of 2006, I cannot in reason be harsher

  on the Scotland of 1707.








  Edinburgh,




  January 2006.
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  Edinburgh from the north-west, the Scottish capital with its new industrial suburb in the Dean Village




  





  ‘Strange people’
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  During the morning of February 21, 1702, William of Orange, King of England, Scotland and Ireland, Stadholder of the Dutch Republic, felt like a little relaxation from the

  cares without number which weighed on him.1 He had a new horse, Sorrel, and he wanted to try her out in the park of Hampton Court. This was his

  favourite English residence, up the River Thames about 15 miles from London. He had found it a crumbling old Tudor pile and remodelled it in the magnificent style of his own age to resemble nothing

  so much as the Versailles of his arch-enemy, King Louis XIV of France. Round it stretched formal gardens, water-meadows and tree-lined avenues. Into these, on a chilly morning, William rode his

  untried steed at a walk, then a canter. Next he wanted to gallop, so he spurred Sorrel on. She had scarcely started forward when she fell to her knees and pitched the king off, hard on to his right

  shoulder. She had stumbled on a molehill. For years afterwards William’s enemies would toast the ‘little gentleman in black velvet’ who laid him low as his human adversaries, in

  the mêlée of battle or in the broils of politics, had never been able to do.




  Though this proved at length to be a fatal fall, William had only broken his collar-bone. His frame was just too frail to stand the shock. His life had been one of ceaseless struggle, first to

  reassert the influence of his princely house in the Dutch Republic, next to vindicate its independence against the French, then to do as much for the three kingdoms of his uncle and father-in-law,

  King James VII and II, whom William had to depose and exile. Nor did he merely direct policy from his cabinet. In his native country’s struggle for survival he took the field in person,

  displaying reckless courage. It was by force, if without an actual clash of arms, that he won control of England in 1688 and seized the British Crowns for himself and his wife, Mary II. To defend

  them he then had to go to Ireland in 1690 where, once again, he fought at the Battle of the Boyne, leading a victorious charge across the river at a decisive moment. All

  this exacted a cost even while it ended in triumph for him. By the winter of his death he was sick and tired, his heart failing and making his limbs swell. It would take no more than a fall from

  Sorrel to finish him off.




  Yet at first, and as ever, this austere, untiring man took a setback in his stride. He got the fracture set at Hampton Court, then insisted on returning by coach to Kensington Palace over roads

  so bumpy that the bone had to be set again after he arrived. Though he could not write and was obliged to spend all day in a dressing-gown rather than in any close-fitting coat, he worked on as

  usual at affairs of state, rising every morning at eight o’clock and going to bed every night at eleven, regular as clockwork. At the end of a week he was again wearing normal clothes and

  appearing in public. But when his doctors had taken the bandages off they found the fracture unknit and his shoulder still somewhat swollen, along with his right arm and hand. In fact inflammation

  was about to spread to the lining of his lungs and give him pleurisy, then to the lungs themselves and bring on the pneumonia which would kill him.




  Doctors of the time could never have diagnosed this, but William took no notice of them or his condition anyway. He did not for a moment cease from his labours. He now prepared to go and give in

  person, as was then the practice, royal assent to measures just passed by Parliament. They included the Abjuration Act excluding by name from the throne his cousin James, the thirteen-year-old son

  and heir of James VII and II, who had died in exile at St Germain near Paris not long before, in September 1701. William also wanted to commend to the House of Commons a project of Union between

  England and Scotland. He sent members a message ahead of his intended visitation: ‘His Majesty would esteem it a peculiar felicity if during his reign some happy expedient for making both

  kingdoms one might take place, and is therefore extremely desirous that a treaty for that purpose might be set on foot, and does in the most earnest manner recommend this to the consideration of

  the House.’




  Then on March 4, while William was walking up and down the corridors at Kensington Palace for some gentle exercise, soothing his eyes on his Dutch paintings, weariness overcame him. He flopped

  down in a chair and fell asleep. When he awoke he was cold, feverish and coughing. From that point on he grew weaker. His pulse was feeble. He could not eat. His doctors took alarm. On March 7 he

  developed a high fever and they gave him quinine, which did not work. He was in great pain, worse because his senses remained clear. All at once he stood at death’s door.




  In those times kings died, as they did most things, in public. When William took to his bed, courtiers constantly pressed round it. From The Hague arrived his closest

  confidant, Arnout van Keppel, a handsome young Dutchman whom he had made Earl of Albemarle in the English peerage. Albemarle, though distressed, tried to cheer the king up. He returned the bleak

  reply: ‘Je tire vers ma fin.’ He hardly slept that night. The Archbishop of Canterbury, Thomas Tenison, came at dawn with the Bishop of Salisbury, Gilbert Burnet, a fat and garrulous

  Scotsman. They gave the king communion and waited. His agony grew so acute that he asked his physician, Prof. Gorvaert Bidloo, how long it would last. The answer was ‘not long’.




  Without fear William composed himself to die. His final visitor turned up, Hans Willem Bentinck, Earl of Portland, the friend of his youth who had once nursed him through a near fatal bout of

  smallpox, fought by his side at the Boyne and been the faithful, indefatigable servant whose diplomacy secured his new Crowns against foreign machination. But the English hated Portland for the

  Dutch avarice he displayed, and he flounced off once William took a fancy to Albemarle. Now, after two years’ absence from court, Portland reappeared. The king, by this time no longer able to

  speak, grasped his old comrade’s hand and laid it on his heart. Burnet recorded: ‘Between seven and eight o’clock the rattle began, the commendatory prayer was said for him, and

  as it ended he died, on Sunday, the 8th of March 1702, in the fifty-second year of his life.’2 He would be buried privately in Westminster

  Abbey four nights later.




  William’s sister-in-law, Anne, younger daughter of James VII and II, was proclaimed. As Queen of Scots she summoned those of her northern kingdom’s noblemen who happened to be in

  London and took the coronation oath before them. A military officer had already set off to bring first word of her accession to Edinburgh. It was received there with little emotion.3 Orders went out to delay transport of a Lowland regiment to the Netherlands and raise the level of vigilance round the main Highland garrison at Fort William.

  When the official notice of the king’s death reached Edinburgh on the night he was interred, the royal councillors decided it had got too late to do anything: they could wait till morning to

  proclaim Anne from the Cross and make sure of some sleep before all the fuss that would follow.




  William of Orange had been loved by the Scots even less than by the other nations of the British Isles; only Protestant Ulstermen cherish his memory. As for the English, recent historians have

  written that he deserved better of them than they were ready to concede, though they could never display much affection for such a cold, hard, humourless man.4 They showed no relish for rule by a foreigner in any case. It did not even help that he quelled France, their arch-enemy, and set the Britain of the future on

  the road to becoming a great power. At home he saved England’s parliamentary constitution, indeed accorded the legislature a stronger position than it had ever enjoyed before. With that he

  brought a return to political stability at the end of a century of revolutions. Yet all this counted for little in making the English like him, then or now.




  In Scotland no such paradox appears. William of Orange was the worst of all Kings of Scots. Since the nation had been in chaos through much of the seventeenth century, his Revolution of 1688

  made little difference. And to call it in English fashion the Glorious, let alone Bloodless, Revolution is risible.
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  William left his indelible mark on the history of Scotland by bringing down the legitimate line of the House of Stewart. Of course, he counted through his mother as a member of

  that house himself, and a fuller member of it, Anne, would reign on after him till her death in 1714; the Hanoverians who followed her descended through another female from Scotland’s native

  dynasty. Yet these were all monarchs de facto, not de jure. The royal succession – which, according to Scots, had followed without a break from Fergus mac Erc in 330

  BC to their own day – sundered in 1688. And the royal succession was their proudest boast, not least because it put them one up over the English. A lawyer of high

  culture, Sir George Mackenzie of Rosehaugh, Lord Advocate under James VII, looked back to Scottish antiquity and found that ‘we are still the same people and nation, but the English are not

  the old Britons, but are a mixture descending from Danes, Saxons and French’. This was the root and stock of the Scots’ independence: ‘No historian can pretend that we obeyed any

  race, save that which now reigns: whereas we can condescend, where the English and French were conquered by strangers, and had their royal line dethroned and inverted.’5




  All nations cherish their myths but without that one the Scottish nation might have been unable to preserve itself. For such a small country it had always shown an extraordinary, though

  perilous, diversity. It still bore marks of its origins at the turn of the millennium as a union of Gaels in the west, Picts in the north, Britons in the south-west and

  Angles in the south-east, to which in course of time Vikings of the Northern and Western Isles were superadded. Names of petty kingdoms where these different peoples had dwelt – Moray, Fife,

  Lothian, Galloway and more – survived up to and beyond the seventeenth century; another, Strathclyde, was to be resurrected in the late twentieth century as a monstrous local authority. The

  patchwork could have dissolved and almost did about 1300. It was then that the heroism of King Robert Bruce refounded nation and monarchy which, burgeoning by triumph over English aggression,

  became entwined round the sprig, a rather distant one, of the ancient royal stem he represented. Scotland maintained herself as an independent nation into the dawn of the modern era, though always

  more untidy, precarious and provisional than other nations, than its southern neighbour especially, and never able to efface its variegations through any durable centralising force: all the better

  for that, Scots would say.




  Like other nations of Europe, Scotland meanwhile saw struggles between king and nobility, if here somewhat less severe because the king was often a child, his father having usually suffered a

  gruesome and premature death. Constant external threats to national existence made for greater internal stability than England or France enjoyed till their kings could impose royal absolutism on

  aristocratic aggrandisement. At any rate the unique result in Scotland was to place king and people on an easier footing than could ever be possible in England or France, where the monarch had to

  overawe his subjects.




  For example, during James VI’s journey south in 1603 to claim the throne of his late cousin, Elizabeth of England, the people swarmed to welcome him in almost intolerable numbers. English

  courtiers who went to meet the king halfway noted how the throng seemed to upset or even alarm him. Scots in his entourage explained that at home a crowd was a sign of trouble. Rather than smile

  and wave as Elizabeth had always done, James cursed. He asked what all these people wanted, and smooth-talking Englishmen replied they came of love to see him. He cried in Scots: ‘I’ll

  pull doon ma breeks and they shall see ma erse.’ When he had spoken like that at home, his people answered in kind. That was how Scots treated their kings, worthy of loyalty but on a level

  with themselves. True, this bonhomie could turn into insolence from Scotland’s thuggish lords. They would try to bully James. When the Master of Glamis had trapped him at Ruthven Castle in

  1582, and made the fifteen-year-old lad burst into tears, he said with contempt: ‘Better that bairns should greet than bearded men.’ But James learned to

  surmount this sort of intimidation. Early one morning in the summer of 1593 he was in bed at the Palace of Holyroodhouse when a group of armed nobles burst in on him. The king defied them, then got

  them to parley. Meanwhile the people of Edinburgh, hearing he was in trouble, gathered in the courtyard outside. The last thing he wanted was a fight round his person. He leant out of a window,

  shouted down that he was fine: they should all go home. They bawled happily back in answer, and the danger vanished.




  From scenes like these we get some inkling of how much Scotland lost after her kings departed in 1603. James VI returned just once. His son Charles I, though born at Dunfermline, grew up to all

  intents and purposes an Englishman, coming back only to treat Scots with disdain where it hurt most, in their Calvinist religion. That was why they got hold of Charles II young and drummed into him

  that he was a covenanted king, bound by oath to God and his people. The result turned out the opposite to what they intended: a sovereign resolved to sit never again through three hours of a

  ranting Presbyterian sermon but rather to terminate the rule of the saints in the Church of Scotland. The episode in which he all but exterminated their remnant was grimly known as the Killing

  Time. James VII and II tried his absolutist but blundering best with the Scots. Before he succeeded he came and resided in Edinburgh for a time so as to take the heat out of efforts in England to

  exclude him, as a Catholic, from the throne. His sojourn in Scotland as a sort of viceroy offered him a chance to show his monarchical potential. He did not too badly. But his religion still set up

  a bar between him and this most Protestant people – especially as he was said to enjoy watching captive Covenanters tortured.




  The final crisis between dynasty and nation rose towards its climax on the afternoon of Sunday, December 9, 1688. It was then that the House of Stewart, which over three centuries had done more

  than anything else to ensure Scotland’s survival, commenced its fall. Edinburgh was in the hands of a mob. They knew that 500 miles away William of Orange had landed at Torbay in Devon and

  with his army was advancing on London to save Protestantism. There, that same afternoon, James VII and II prepared to send his family to France as a prelude to his own flight. The king’s

  cause in Scotland seemed just as dire. Rather than try to restore order in his name, the Duke of Gordon, governor of Edinburgh Castle, shut himself up behind the ramparts. At Holyrood the Scottish

  government under the Chancellor, the Earl of Perth, was running out of time. It would not have lasted the night but for the presence of mind of the Lord Provost, Magnus

  Prince, who at the waning of a gloomy winter’s day ordered the gates of the city locked and posted guards to stop troublemakers getting out over the walls to the palace beyond.




  On the Monday morning Gordon ventured a sortie, clattering down the High Street with an armed escort. He wanted to urge the Chancellor to come and take refuge with him. But Perth said he was

  about to leave for his own Castle Drummond, 40 miles away beyond Stirling, in case he had to escape abroad; he would be taken prisoner as he embarked for France. All he would do was sign an order

  authorising the duke to draw on the revenue for any military needs. When Gordon tried, officials of the Exchequer refused to pay him. Once Perth was gone that afternoon, the rabble moved in on the

  palace and the Abbey of Holyrood next to it, housing the Chapel Royal.




  James VII had made the chapel a symbol of his reign. While resident in Edinburgh, he ordered mass to be celebrated there for the first time in more than a century. Later he invited the

  parishioners of the Canongate, who used the abbey as their kirk, to shift to an elegant new building nearby, which still stands today. Then he paid for the chapel to be fitted out for the order of

  chivalry he founded, the Knights of the Thistle, with a throne for himself and a dozen stalls for them. It was a high-class job: Grinling Gibbons did the carvings. The king sent up more lavish

  fittings for it in his own royal yacht – an altar, an organ, vestments and images.




  Just before the popular reaction to all this now burst out, the abbey had been on royal orders sprinkled with holy water and reconsecrated for St Andrew’s Day. Nothing was more likely to

  provoke the Calvinist citizens of the capital. Students started the trouble. After they left their classes at the university on the Monday of the crisis, they gathered on the Meadows nearby so that

  the Lord Provost could not again trap them within the walls of the city. They marched round towards Holyrood. As they approached, the commander of the guard, Captain John Wallace, drew up his 100

  men in the forecourt. Outnumbered, these had to retain the initiative – and contemporary methods of keeping order were rough. They opened fire, then for good measure lobbed hand grenades into

  the crowd. Twelve students were killed and many wounded. The rest fled in panic back up the hill. Blood had been shed and Gordon sent word that he was ready to deploy his troops, but the Lord

  Provost did not want general carnage in the streets. Prince disposed of the town guard and trained bands of militia, about 700 men in all. With these he sought to defuse the situation. He sent a messenger to Holyrood, offering to escort Wallace and the guards to safety in the castle. The messenger arrived too late.




  This was because what remained of the government of Scotland had blundered in. While the Lord Provost stayed cool and collected, those privy councillors still lurking in the capital were trying

  to calm their nerves in a drinking den but instead worked themselves into a panic. They too gave orders to the town guard, that it should go down and take over security at Holyrood – in other

  words, they signalled royalist surrender. The students followed cheering. Wallace, yet more outnumbered than before, told his men to run but they were all chased and caught.




  Militia and mob were now in merry mood, ready to carry on in the common cause. They decided to break into the abbey and destroy its splendours. They tore down throne, stalls and organ, and

  paraded with the debris up the High Street. Some paused at the Nethergate and reverently took down for burial the skulls of Covenanting martyrs stuck up there on spikes. They proceeded to the

  Cross, where they lit a bonfire and danced round it while they burned the blasphemous baubles. They made an effigy of the pope and burned him too. Others, finished with the abbey, turned on the

  palace. They aimed first at a college of Jesuits installed by the king, but these had fled. So the rioters, shoulder to shoulder with the forces of order, hammered down the doors of Perth’s

  suite and rifled whatever he had left behind. Next they penetrated the royal apartments, smashing what they did not want, destroying what they could not bear away. It was this jape that brought on

  such an act of sacrilege as would have appalled any previous generation of Scots. Under Holyrood lay the Stewarts’ burial vault, though none had been interred there since James V in 1542.

  Hallowed though the place was, the rabble did not spare it. They burst in, hacked at the tombs and scattered the royal dust. This was the sorry end of the direct line of Scotland’s native

  dynasty which, except in futile rebellion, would never set foot in the country again.




  [image: ]




  These events led on to civil war as Jacobitism emerged, so-called after the Latin form of the name James. The aim of the movement, which had a century’s life ahead of it,

  was to restore the legitimate line of Stewarts. It relied first on loyalists to James VII who refused to accept the Revolution, yet in time found means to draw in wider groups suffering the

  consequences. Jacobitism at one or other of its peaks would be for many Scots above all an expression of their patriotism, crystallised in fidelity to a dynasty supposed to

  be 2,000 years old, older than the nation itself. If the dynasty went, then so might the nation. There were rival interpretations of Scotland’s history, but this proved a powerful one.




  To settle the affairs of post-revolutionary Scotland, a national Convention gathered in Edinburgh over the winter of 1688–9. One leading Jacobite, James Graham of Claverhouse, Viscount

  Dundee, soon abandoned it and rode for the North. He had been a brave, but stupid, and no doubt for that reason ultra-loyal servant of James VII, as of Charles II before him, especially in brutal

  suppression of the Covenanters. Claverhouse went to the Convention in hope it might reverse the Revolution. Once it dawned on him that this was not going to happen he walked out. In the North he

  would find many other Jacobites among aristocracy, gentry and clergy, while in the Lowlands, too, there were Jacobite lairds. Claverhouse managed during the summer of 1689 to raise more than 2,000

  men – quite enough, given the modest scale of Scottish warfare, to launch a rising. Having ranged up to the Highlands and along the Great Glen, he was by the end of July moving south. He

  crossed into upper Strathspey towards the Pass of Killiecrankie, leading into the Lowlands.




  Marching in the opposite direction came a force loyal to King William under General Hugh Mackay of Scourie. He was a Gael from a far northern clan – its lands included Cape Wrath –

  the only one to have switched sides during the Revolution. He brought about the change of heart himself, coming home after a long mercenary’s career in Europe. Mackay did not know or did not

  believe that Jacobite forces had mustered so fast. So when, on July 27, he was advancing through the pass, he remained unaware of their approach from the other side. Claverhouse could and did read

  the situation. Leading his troops at a run in the heat of summer, he mounted a hill above the pass. An astonished Mackay turned his regiments to face them, suddenly aware of his great peril. For a

  couple of hours the two sides skirmished, each meanwhile trying to extend its lines and outflank the enemy. Claverhouse resolved matters at seven o’clock in the evening, when the sun was no

  longer in his men’s faces. He ordered a Highland charge down the braes of Killiecrankie. It smashed Mackay’s thin, stretched lines. His troops fled back along the pass, being cut down

  as they ran. In this moment of supreme triumph Claverhouse, rising in the stirrups to rally his irresolute cavalry, was shot under the left arm and fell dying. The first Jacobite rising had won a great victory, but its leader was no more. The scale of the loss could be gauged days later when the clansmen tried to debouch into the Lowlands. At Dunkeld, guarding

  the southern end of the pass, they were stopped dead by the Cameronians, a regiment raised from the most extreme Covenanters to defend the Revolution. These, outnumbered three to one in fighting

  round the cathedral, would not yield even when their commander, Colonel William Cleland, lost his life.6




  With an about equal disposition to heroism and sacrifice on either side, stalemate followed. It was this that at length brought the most infamous episode of William’s reign, the Massacre

  of Glencoe. In February 1692 his troops killed thirty-eight MacDonalds during a snowy dawn in their fastness among the mountains. The cull was modest by Highland standards.7 In earlier bloodbaths, prisoners or innocents had been slaughtered in hundreds by their conquerors; to clansmen in arms it was routine. Yet somehow the carnage in

  Glencoe seemed more horrible. The Mac-Donalds had, despite a notorious reputation as marauders and thieves, been at peace on that winter’s morning, had indeed for days beforehand been

  offering Highland hospitality to the soldiers about to murder them. The affair went down in legend as the treachery of the Campbells, their hereditary enemies. Yet it was much more the treachery of

  their nation’s rulers, servants of King William.




  The king had been brandishing both carrot and stick at Highlanders. He offered Jacobite chiefs inducements to abandon their cause, but threatened if these were spurned to come in person and

  exact submission by force – the nearest he ever got to visiting Scotland. The chiefs took a little while to weigh up his subtlety before they concluded that William meant what he said. They

  were required to take an oath of allegiance to him by December 31, 1691. As the deadline approached most all at once fell into line. MacDonald of Glencoe arrived on that last day of the year at

  Fort William. He presented himself to the governor, General John Hill, only to find he had come to the wrong place. The oath was to be administered by a civil, not military, officer: in this case

  by the sheriff-depute of Argyll, Sir Colin Campbell of Ardkinglass, 50 miles away at Inveraray. In fear and trembling MacDonald set off through snowdrifts and got there on January 3. But Ardkinglas

  had gone home after the deadline, and storms hindered his return for three more days. Even then, MacDonald found himself reduced to pleading in tears before his oath was accepted. When Ardkinglas

  went to Edinburgh with the certificate of all oaths from his county, he was obliged by the clerks of the privy council to erase the name of MacDonald of Glencoe, as one who

  had sworn too late.




  Behind this lay the wiles of the Scottish Secretary, Sir John Dalrymple of Stair. He had drawn up orders against chiefs still holding out, for MacDonald of Glencoe was far from alone. ‘I

  hope the soldiers will not trouble the Government with prisoners,’ Stair concluded.8 But it was fantasy to think of a punitive campaign

  against diehards in a Highland winter. Talks with them continued behind the scenes well after the deadline. Dalrymple thought he might best prove the king meant business by making an example of

  somebody: ‘if MacIain of Glencoe, and that tribe, can be well separated from the rest, it will be a proper vindication of the public justice to extirpate that den of

  thieves.’9 By January 23 the message got through to Sir Thomas Livingston, commander-in-chief in Scotland. Taking his cue from a political

  superior, he wrote to an officer at Fort William:




  

    

      I understand that the Laird of Glencoe, coming after the prefixed time, was not admitted to take the oath, which is very good news here, being that at Court it’s

      wished he had not taken it . . . So Sir, here is a fair occasion for you to show that your garrison serves for some use . . . begin with Glencoe, and spare nothing which belongs to him, but do

      not trouble the Government with prisoners.


    


  




  This echo of Stair was in effect the formal order for the massacre which followed and which was never punished.10
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  It was through acts not just of man but also of God that Scotland suffered affliction. Lying at the climatic limits of primitive agriculture, she had often gone hungry. But the

  famine of the 1690s went beyond anything known or remembered. The whole nation seemed to fall back to a lower stage of development. The economy ground to a halt as merchants exported coin to buy

  grain from abroad. The people reverted to barter. The state struggled to function without the taxes it could not collect. Highland bands debouched in quest of sustenance on the Lowlands. The

  Jacobites spoke of ‘King William’s seven ill years’. That term drew an analogy between him and the wicked Pharaoh of the Bible to suggest a divine judgment on the Scots for the

  sin of dethroning James VII and II. The memory long outlasted the crisis. A century later when the Old Statistical Account was being written – itself the

  expression of a new, scientific approach to national prosperity – the authors still cited stories from 100 years before of corpses in the fields and by the roads or on the seashore, with

  survivors swarming to beg in the burghs after failed harvests on their farms. Even in the twentieth century oral tradition had not forgotten: when human bones were uncovered by workmen near the

  foreshore at a village on the Moray Firth, local people at once identified them as victims of the famine who had died after trying to survive on shellfish and been buried above the high

  watermark.




  At least among forward-thinking Scots a new spirit sought to put the terrible experience to some good use. They were starting to come to terms with their physical and social reality in a

  methodical way that would make the nation a cradle of new sciences in the Enlightenment of the following century. Andrew Fletcher of Saltoun, a choleric laird from East Lothian, dwelt on the

  miseries of the poor and indifference of the rich. He thought that at the height of famine 200,000 beggars were on the move in Scotland. Never a man to shirk drastic solutions, he proposed reducing

  these wretches to a sort of benign slavery, regulated by law to secure their basic human rights, rather than leaving them to their fate. The scientist Sir Robert Sibbald wrote how ‘everyone

  may see death in the face of the poor that abound everywhere; the thinness of their visage, their ghostly looks, their feebleness, their agues and their fluxes threaten them with sudden

  death’. He often came across unburied corpses: ‘Some die in the wayside, some drop down in the street, the poor sucking babs are starving for want of milk which the empty breasts of

  their mothers cannot furnish.’ Patrick Walker, a clerical biographer, found women in the markets crying, ‘How shall we go home and see our children die in hunger? They have had no meat

  these two days, and we have nothing to give them.’ Martin Martin, author of a survey of the Western Isles, said ‘many of the poor people have died by famine’ after failed crops

  caused by ‘the great change of the seasons, which of late years is become more piercing and cold’. He got closest to the real explanation. This decade saw widespread agrarian crisis in

  Europe and America. Its cause seems to have lain in the solar system, in a cyclical fall in output of energy from the Sun, rather than – as Scots assumed – in their own

  sins.11




  King William’s seven ill years probably thinned the national population by between 5 and 15 per cent, with drops of 20 per cent in the worst areas. Perhaps half of this was due to a higher

  death-rate, half to a fall in births and increased emigration, notably to Ireland. Once the horror of the physical suffering passed it left mental scars in a feeling that

  Scotland was a nation which had failed, which was trailing far behind its neighbours in the British Isles and in Europe.




  The feeling ought to have been belied by the start of some promising development: a shift from communal to individual agriculture, greater security for tenants in longer leases, growing payment

  of rents in cash rather than in kind, foundation of a banking system, a quest for methods of fostering industry, all to be taken as evidence of improvement in the next century. Scotland’s

  first, halting economic discourse had begun in an intellectual advance after the Restoration with a technical literature dwelling on such changes – Of Husbandrie (before 1666) by

  John Skene of Hallyards, Husbandrie Anatomiz’d (1697) by James Donaldson and The Countrey-Man’s Rudiments (1699), possibly by Lord Belhaven, a later enemy of Union.

  But this literature was not yet vigorous enough to offer aid or comfort to Scots brought face to face with their backwardness.12
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  The disposition to gloom was finally reinforced by one of the most spectacular of all national failures, of the attempt in 1699–1701 to establish a trading colony at

  Darien on the Isthmus of Panama. This, too, drew its impulse from the feeling among Scots that they had fallen behind their neighbours, a condition which might find at least partial remedy from

  rational planning and patriotic exertion in colonial trade. Since it was enriching Dutchmen and Englishmen, Scots thought they could follow. This was in embryo a modern thought, that a society

  intent on economic growth could discover means to achieve it.




  The expedition to Central America set out in the summer of 1699 in blithe indifference to the dim view of it taken by King William, though ominous signs of his displeasure could have been read.

  The colony was organised by a Company of Scotland Trading to Africa and the Indies, or Darien Company. It had at first tried to float itself in London as well as in Edinburgh, with English as well

  as Scottish directors, to the tune of £600,000. The attempt provoked uproar among powerful metropolitan interests which saw here a threat to the English East India Company’s monopoly on

  oriental traffic. William himself said, pandering to the brouhaha: ‘I have been ill-served in Scotland but I hope some remedy may yet be found to meet the

  inconvenience that may arise from this Act.’ The Parliament at Westminster needed no better authority to vote prosecution of the Darien Company’s directors living under its

  jurisdiction. That was the last seen of them or of the £300,000 they had engaged to stump up.




  The basic problem was that William cherished strategic aims beyond the ken of Scots, from which he would stand no domestic distraction. In Spain, the ruling Habsburgs were reaching their

  degenerate end and he had to stop Louis XIV of France seizing the succession for the Bourbons, so overturning the balance of power in Europe. As a solution William meant to arrange partition of the

  Spanish realms. For this he conducted the diplomacy in secret. He could not make clear in Scotland what he was up to, even if he had wanted. He was obliged to keep Spain sweet, and she would not

  tolerate a colony on the Isthmus of Panama over which she carried her transfusions of economic lifeblood, the precious metals from Peru. He afterwards claimed to have been deceived about the aims

  of the Scottish expedition, otherwise he would have at once understood that it breached treaties with Spain, a friendly power, and done something about it. Darien lay in territory he recognised as

  Spanish. In his eyes it therefore counted as an unlawful colony. In the summer of 1699 he issued a proclamation forbidding all his English subjects to sell arms, ammunition and provisions to it, or

  to deal with it in any way. The king’s will was communicated to every colonial governor along 2,000 miles of American seaboard from Boston to Barbados.




  The Scots at Darien, already aghast at the vile tropical conditions and daunting death-toll these exacted, remained in the dark about two further problems: why nobody would come to trade with

  them and why they had heard nothing from home. Their first query was hardly to the point for they had carried with them little that could well be traded, since Scotland did not manufacture much

  desired by other nations. A colonist wrote: ‘We cannot conceive for what end so much thin grey paper and so many little blue bonnets were sent here, being entirely useless and not worth their

  room on the ship.’ The answer to the second query was a matter less of royal hostility than of their own countrymen’s incompetence. But when the colonists found out by chance about the

  king’s proclamation from a passing ship, everything seemed to fall into place. One of their leaders was William Paterson, a typical ‘projector’ of the age, full of ingenious

  schemes, some good, some bad: a good one had been the Bank of England, which he helped to found in 1694, while a bad one was Darien. ‘The long silence,’ he now concluded as he recalled

  the joyful crowds waving them off from Leith, ‘proceeded from no other cause but that they were brow-beat and durst not so much send word to us to shift for

  ourselves.’




  For the colonists, then, the future could hold no relief, but only deeper despair. Suddenly they felt they had to go. Paterson alone opposed immediate evacuation. Even if he had been able to

  think or speak clearly in the bout of fever he was suffering, another event brought all argument to a halt. A French ship appeared, which would have been cause of jubilation a week before. Now it

  confirmed the Scots’ worst fears. The captain said he had come from Cartagena, a city further along the Caribbean coast, and learned there of a new governor appointed from Spain who meant to

  prove himself by gathering a force to destroy Darien. The Scots’ fortitude dissolved into panic. They rushed about packing their possessions and, with nobody taking charge or keeping order,

  fought each other to get into boats ferrying them from shore to ship. In four days most were aboard with servants and baggage. A rearguard remained in the fort with Paterson and the commander,

  William Drummond. Just six would stay behind when the rest sailed away, too ill or mad or stubborn to move. They would be there to greet a second Scottish fleet which arrived to re-establish the

  colony on the same site in November. It lasted a still shorter time, and would surrender to a Spanish force in April 1700. Of all those brave Scots just a handful ever got home.




  Thus ended the last, greatest but most calamitous colonial undertaking of Scotland as an independent nation. The loss of life among so many enterprising Scots was grievous enough. They also

  wasted the £200,000 they took with them to their doom, one-quarter of the country’s capital. All this taught not only an economic but a political lesson too. Apart from contingent

  misfortunes, the Union of Crowns was one obvious root of the disaster. Fletcher assessed that it came about ‘partly through our own fault, and partly through the removal of our kings into

  another country’. Scotland was thus reduced to unique impotence:




  

    

      This nation, of all those that possess good ports and lie conveniently for trade and fishing, has been the only part of Europe which did not apply itself to commerce; and

      possessing a barren country, in less than an age we are sunk to so low a condition as to be despised by all our neighbours and made uncapable to repel an injury, if any should be

      offered.13


    


  




  To cap everything, a King of Scots resident in England had subjected the interests of his smaller to those of his larger realm. So the English possessed

  colonies and oceanic trade while the Scots possessed neither. Failure at Darien did not kill Scottish aspirations to a better future, only made clear it was not going to emerge from the existing

  political order. This might mean that the future would have in some sense to be a more independent one. Or it might mean that if the Scots could not beat the English, at this as at other

  endeavours, then perhaps they had to join them.
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  Yet Union was never a practical proposition while it just meant English takeover of Scotland, by conquest or otherwise. New prospects had opened in 1603 once James VI ascended

  the English throne. He himself sought to turn the Union of Crowns into a Union of Parliaments. But neither side yet felt ready for it, the English even less than the Scots. In the course of time

  various further schemes were put forward. The sole actual attempt at closer Union, the Cromwellian one, served to underline that it could not last without some degree of Scottish consent. By the

  end of the seventeenth century, at any rate, the Union of Crowns was in disarray. So far from converging, the two nations now seemed to be drifting apart as Scottish aversion to English domination

  grew. Relations between them turned cold and sour. Change of whatever sort appeared imperative.




  Release of Scotland’s pent-up energies by the Revolution of 1688 complicated the connection still further. Her Parliament saw a period of development which showed a promise to be snuffed

  out in 1707. Before the Revolution the Parliament had done little more than ratify the king’s commands. In this it was much like the Estates General of continental nations, which also tended

  to vanish in the early modern era. Like them again, it suffered a structural defect in consisting of a single chamber where lords and commons and sometimes clergy sat together: in other words, the

  Commons had not been set apart, as in England, to deliberate on their own and formulate a general will for the nation. Here was the unique evolution of the English Parliament towards its classical

  form, of a legislature checking the executive, from which it set a universal example.




  Yet for a while after the Revolution the Scots Parliament almost seemed to be progressing faster than the English Parliament. At Westminster members resorted to fictions to explain why they were

  overthrowing their king. They asserted he had abdicated; the truth was anything but. The verdict in Scotland, opposed by just five members at the Convention’s final

  vote on the matter, stated rather that he had by misrule forfeited the Crown. This implied obligation to something higher than both king and people – what a later, enlightened age would call

  a contract. The Claim of Right then voted by the Convention would confirm as much. It listed James VII’s offences and resolved that he had violated ‘the fundamental constitution of this

  kingdom and altered it from a legal limited monarchy to an arbitrary despotic power’.14 That was why he had to go.




  In the light of Scottish history it was a bold claim, to say the least. Perhaps it can be better read as a statement that in future the monarchy ought to be limited. William and Mary, when

  offered the Crown in 1689, were obliged to accept it on those terms. The terms were spelled out: the monarchy had to be Protestant; its prerogatives would be subject to the rule of law; its supply

  of finance should depend on the consent of Parliament; this must meet often and enjoy freedom of debate. The last point was a hit at a peculiarity of the Scottish constitution, the Lords of the

  Articles, a committee appointed by the king to control the agenda of Parliament, underlining its impotence and subordination to him. The Lords of the Articles vanished a year later, against

  William’s will. In Scotland the Revolution seemed to have brought a big shift in the balance of power as between Crown and Parliament, more dramatic even than in England.




  But the practical results disappointed. The emergence of Jacobitism, the Massacre of Glencoe, the affair of Darien when William acted as anything other than a King of Scots – all went to

  demonstrate the distance, mental as well as physical, between the monarch and his northern kingdom. A new equilibrium might have brought them closer together and given them through an interplay of

  interests some deeper appreciation of each other’s needs. Yet William lacked the time or the incentive to master Scottish affairs. The wary rapprochement between him and the political nation

  in England, often fraught but finally to the good, never occurred in Scotland.




  Instead, the liberated Scots Parliament took off in the opposite direction. At last able to function in its own right, the first thing it learned was to impede royal government. This was, of

  course, how English constitutionalism had started too, and during a fraught post-revolutionary period the Parliament at Westminster hardly settled into serene stewardship of the common good. But it

  could look back on a long evolution, just as it could look forward to a long evolution through times when men might better judge from experience what among current developments ought to be of durable value. In the 1690s the English legislature was laying down a matrix for the deployment of executive power in an elective majority. As yet, this seldom

  represented any exercise of will on the voters’ part. Rather, a Minister chosen by the monarch, often reliant at the outset only on a parliamentary minority, would gather strength as he went

  through his own measures and the aspirations of those wishing to connect themselves with power in the state. It did not yet bring out the best in English statesmanship.




  In Scotland the normal pattern was the reverse: once a new Ministry formed, parliamentary groups would move into opposition so as to make its life impossible and in that way to extract

  concessions from it. The scene was no prettier than the English one though the system had a different purpose, being concerned less with the convenience of the executive than with a balance among

  all the interests that had to be balanced. The composition not only of the Scottish Ministry but also, for example, of the Bench in the Court of Session reflected this: every faction felt entitled

  to its representative. The penalty was that principle and policy counted for less than patronage, place, pensions and privileges. The English Parliament had by no means left that stage behind. But

  the monarch’s presence in London, the consequent immediate interest of the court and the more pressing propinquity of national and international problems did make a difference. By contrast,

  in Edinburgh everything was at arm’s length: the first thing the king had to do was choose among the great noblemen one to stand in for him as Lord High Commissioner to Parliament and leader

  of the Court party. There were always candidates, none seeing why another should be preferred. So royal authority easily degenerated into aristocratic faction.




  The short remaining life of the Scots Parliament never allowed all these difficulties to be ironed out, and in fact they carried over into the nation’s representation at Westminster after

  1707. It was ironic that then the management of Scotland would come to be well, indeed superbly, organised for themselves by Scots; the repute of their own old Parliament would again suffer in

  comparison. Perhaps it could have undergone a more productive evolution over time – but time, in the event, was what it did not have. Or else there lay deep in the nature of either nation

  something that made for the crucial disparity.
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  William, knowing little and caring less about Scotland, was obliged to depend on others’ advice – above all on his Dutch confidant,

  Portland, of whom Burnet said ‘he had that nation . . . wholly in his hands’.15 He chose the Scottish Ministers. He had to ride out

  the storms of Glencoe and Darien. Even after he retired in 1699 he still gave support to contending Scots politicians, to James Douglas, Duke of Queensberry, and to Archibald Campbell, Earl of

  Argyll. Yet Portland never once set foot in Scotland and his grasp of her politics remained tenuous.




  It was through the prism of Portland that the king perceived the basic problem to be religious, a matter of struggle between rival parties in the Church of Scotland, Presbyterian and

  Episcopalian, as rekindled by the Revolution and reflected in subsequent political divisions. The two Dutchmen tended to the view that they did not amount to much, and thought this confirmed by

  what was known to them of the recent background.




  The religious persecution between the Restoration of 1660 and the Revolution of 1688 indeed belied the fact that in this period a compromise of a kind had come to prevail, not much loved but

  attaining a rough-and-ready equilibrium. Presbyteries and bishops co-existed once Charles II grafted episcopacy back on to the Kirk, after the examples of his father and grandfather. The compromise

  saw to authority and order, with bishops choosing moderators at the different levels of the Presbyterian structure. Otherwise – notably in forms of public worship – little changed from

  the days of John Knox. Eucharist was still offered to communicants sitting rather than kneeling. Presbyterians prided themselves on preaching to the people in the language of the people but not

  every Episcopalian stood gorgeous in the vestments of a priestly caste to recite a sonorous liturgy. A Dutch eye might dwell on similarities, yet Scotland was a kingdom of the mind. In her

  mind’s eye she saw the crucial fact that Episcopalians erected hierarchy while Presbyterians held fast to the priesthood of all believers.




  In large part the two Dutchmen owed their blind spot to reliance on the Revd William Carstares, the leading Presbyterian of the time, nicknamed the Cardinal by his compatriots. He had probably

  started working for the Dutch secret service while a student at the University of Leiden, alma mater of many Scots, whence he graduated in 1672. Some irrepressible impulse to skulduggery

  sent him back and forth across the North Sea, suffering torture and imprisonment from time to time. By means not altogether clear he at length penetrated William of Orange’s inner circle.

  There Carstares would remain, not just as chaplain but also as confidant – like his master a secretive Calvinist. His judgment of events was often borne out by the

  sequel and he knew about subjects, not least Scotland, obscure to his princely master. He tells us he admired William for his determination and courage. In return Carstares offered his own brand of

  bravery, the bravery of resolute moderation in an immoderate age and the willingness to endure the opprobrium of more impassioned figures. He was ‘a fat, sanguine complexioned fair

  man’, one said of him, ‘always smiling, where he designs most mischief’.16




  William was a practising member of the Dutch Reformed Church, which enjoyed its own Presbyterian form of government. He preferred plain worship and he attended it daily. In private he followed

  regimes of spiritual self-examination. In public he sought to make his court more godly, though like most Calvinists he did not think much of Anglicanism. Burnet, who had abandoned the Church of

  Scotland for the Church of England, was habitually in the right place at the right time and he turned up at Torbay in 1688: after the safe landing William ragged him, asking him how he could doubt

  predestination now he had seen God’s blessing on the expedition to depose King James VII and II.17 A man at whom William could throw an

  earnest jest was a man he might have trusted in greater matters, but Burnet, beside not standing at quite the right point on the religious spectrum, was also too indiscreet. King William preferred

  to trust Carstares. It was he, not Burnet, who led the service of thanksgiving on the beach at Torbay and who, for the future, offered better acquaintance with events and personalities in Scotland.

  At least William sought to make up for his ignorance with vision. One way he set himself apart from his fellow monarch Louis XIV was that he did not accept religion should be imposed by

  persecution. He urged toleration everywhere he could exert any influence. He employed men of all faiths, Catholics and Jews too, in civil and military service. How could such a king deal with

  bigoted Scotland?




  A bad sign came from the start, when William found his coronation oath required him to root out heresy. He objected. Red-faced Scots hastened to persuade him the oath did not mean what it said.

  With the Crown he also accepted the Claim of Right, which denounced bishops and said their office ‘ought to be abolished’. This might imply acceptance of a Presbyterian settlement. Yet,

  as Burnet pointed out, ‘the king would not consent to a plain and simple condemnation’ of Episcopalians.18 What he wanted above all

  was a Kirk that would cause him no political problems, so for preference one open to all shades of Protestant. Then it might come to resemble the Church of England, and in

  course of time the two establishments would be able to identify a community of interest, perhaps so far as to merge.19 The existing college of

  Scots bishops, while Jacobite, advocated passive obedience, that is to say, non-resistance to civil authority. In that case, there was a chance of wooing a complaisant minority of their clergy.

  William wished such men to remain within the Kirk, and hoped to keep them there by letting them swear an oath of allegiance to him as king de facto, if not de jure. So in the

  post-revolutionary mirk lurked a point towards which the views of King William and Carstares could converge: on a moderate Presbyterian settlement of the Kirk avoiding punctilio over prickly

  problems.




  Their deliberate vagueness began to dissolve as soon as a hair-splitting Scots Parliament got to work. The Act of Supremacy was repealed, by which Charles II had asserted his authority in

  religion. William gave royal assent to an Act Abolishing Prelacy yet swithered over Presbyterianism. He wanted it defined as ‘the government of the Church in this kingdom established by

  law’. But his formula was turned into ‘the only government of Christ’s Church in this kingdom’. Having indulged English dissenters who promised to live peaceably, he wished

  to deal with the Scottish Episcopal clergy in the same way. Yet the Kirk would soon take sweeping powers to purge them. The king, or rather Carstares, would have retained lay patronage of livings,

  another device by which clerical wildness might be calmed. It did not seem wholly at odds with presbytery, yet it went. The power to choose ministers passed from the landed gentry to local heritors

  and elders of congregations.




  Not only in the Convention, but also in the country beyond, Presbyterians often dwelt, in preference to present needs, on a sense of grievance over what they had suffered before. In the West

  they rabbled Episcopalians out of their manses. Such deprivations, legal and illegal, outnumbered those suffered at the Restoration of 1660 by Presbyterians. Once reinstated they wanted to get

  their own back, with no bishops and with presbytery everywhere set up over a new order in religion and politics. Each minister would have to show his loyalty to William and Mary in saying public

  prayers for them by name. Presbyterians expected their policy to commend them to the new king.




  The General Assembly of the Church of Scotland reconvened in 1690 for the first time since 1654. It drew up a Presbyterian settlement for the nation which remains in force to this day. It did so

  in more rather than less exclusive form. This was a Presbyterian institution and Presbyterians made all the running there. The government could counter only in the civil

  sphere, for example, by refusing to back excommunication with civil penalties. It could not avert vengeance wrought on Episcopalian ministers. The assembly set up a commission to test their

  credentials and within the year had them complaining of its harshness. In 1691 the king ordered a halt to the excesses. In 1692 the Presbyterians retorted with more obstruction of his schemes for

  accepting Episcopalians into the Kirk. This prompted the dissolution of the assembly. In the tit-for-tat it was not till 1696 that the aim of indulgence approached realisation, when Parliament

  passed an Act allowing Episcopalians who took an oath of allegiance to remain in their parishes. Nothing was done for those deprived meanwhile. They, together with others whose Jacobite loyalties

  stopped them taking the oath anyway, would remain outside the Church of Scotland.




  As the General Assembly tested and affirmed its power in the Kirk it set out to lead Scots at large through a strait gate. In 1694 it recited their sins: ‘God is dishonoured by the impiety

  and profaneness that aboundeth . . . in profane and idle swearing, cursing, sabbath-breaking, neglect and contempt of gospel ordinances, mocking of piety and religious exercises, fornication,

  adultery, drunkenness, blasphemy, and other gross and abominable sins and vices.’ In parishes the ministers should ‘denounce the threatened judgments of God against such evil-doers, to

  bring them to a conviction of their sin and danger’, while the kirk-sessions must ‘faithfully exercise church discipline against all such scandalous offenders’. Clergy and elders

  ought to visit every household to see domestic worship performed and children instructed. Servants might only change jobs or residence with testimonials of ‘their honest and Christian

  behaviour’. The untiring assembly kept up its high moral dudgeon for a generation, reinforced by fasts to avert the ‘heavy displeasure and just indignation of the Holy

  One’.20




  Again, there was a human cost. Neither Presbyterians nor Episcopalians had ever shown much interest in toleration, and did not now through another change of regime in the Kirk. In 1697 the

  20-year-old Thomas Aikenhead, a medical student at the University of Edinburgh, was hanged for blasphemy. The privy council had just ordered a search in the city’s bookshops for volumes

  deemed ‘atheistical, erroneous or profane or vicious’, such as those by René Descartes, Thomas Hobbes and Baruch Spinoza. For voicing opinions alleged to be found in them

  Aikenhead was tried under two Blasphemy Acts then in force, one of 1661 prescribing capital punishment, a second of 1695 graduating penalties from prison and sackcloth for

  a first offence, to an additional fine for a second offence and to death only for a third offence. Though a first offender, Aikenhead received a sentence of death. He sought reprieve on grounds of

  his ‘deplorable circumstances [as an orphan] and tender years’. The privy council refused it unless the Kirk interceded for him. The General Assembly happened to be sitting. It urged

  ‘vigorous execution’ to curb ‘the abounding of impiety and profanity in this land’. The pathetically friendless Aikenhead was strung up, the last person to die for blasphemy

  in the British Isles.




  It was a mark of how religion in Scotland had run away from King William and Carstares. A Revolution begun as a revolt against James VII’s Catholicism – with equal support from

  Episcopalians and Presbyterians – ended in the triumph of presbytery over episcopacy and the construction of a monolithic religious establishment. Presbyterians preferred rivals for control

  of the Kirk not to be indulged but kept out of it.21




  Yet Scotland at large still had to be wholly won over to the new order. In all regions but the West many of the nobility and gentry remained hostile to presbytery, and in the North the people

  followed their chiefs or lairds. With as yet too few Presbyterian ministers to replace incumbent Episcopalians a good many of these carried on serving their parishes, sometimes for half-a-century

  ahead.22 An example was the Revd Michael Fraser of Daviot and Dunlichity in eastern Inverness-shire. He held his charge for 54 years, spanning

  the Revolution, though he was a Jacobite of the first water. The Kirk declared his parish vacant in 1694 yet he contrived to cling on till his death in 1726, despite an active role in the rising of

  1715. He was sustained by local landowners, Farquhar MacGillivray of Dunmaglass and the Mackintosh of Mackintosh. Attempts to ease him out came to nothing: his parishioners threw stones at visiting

  presbyters till they went away. The heritors appealed for him to be left in peace – he could not, after all, live for ever – and this was what in effect happened. Yet as a minister he

  was useless. When he had had a bishop, that bishop told him off for neglect of his parish, in particular for going on long artistic holidays with easel, brushes and paints. He survived because he

  proved to be not a faithful pastor but a cultured, complaisant companion to the lairds – which, over most of Scotland, was what counted.23




  William misunderstood the men who ran Scotland in this and much else. While religion may in part have motivated their public conduct, religion was not a solution to the

  problems they posed. When the king’s advisers induced him to act on religion, they just pushed self-seekers from one religious position to another. Often these, in religion as in politics,

  aimed to make a solution impossible so as to extract advantages for themselves.
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  With collapse of the royal authority of the Stewarts’ legitimate line in Scotland, the personal ambition of ruthless noblemen became the driving force in national

  politics. This William and his advisers were equally unable to handle, or perhaps even to understand. The period witnessed the dominance of four great noble houses in particular. They had competed

  before the Revolution, continued in William’s reign and carried on into Anne’s. The four houses were Argyll, Atholl, Hamilton and Queensberry; each wanted not just power but monopoly of

  power, and showed an utter lack of scruple in pursuit of it.




  It may be piquant to note where the head of each house had stood in 1688. The Earls of Argyll, chiefs of Clan Campbell, known to clansmen by the heroic epithet of MacChailein Mòr (Great

  Son of Colin, after a medieval warrior) were the most potent lords of the Gàidhealtachd. The ninth earl had been executed in 1685 for rebellion against James VII, but in defence of their

  patrimony – their sole consistent aim – Highland chiefs often took opposite sides in succeeding generations, and the tenth earl declared loyalty to the king. Campbells had given leaders

  to or martyrs for Scottish Protestantism since its beginnings yet this earl found it in himself to turn briefly Catholic, though without apparent damage to his iconic standing in clan and nation.

  He managed also to get aboard the ship carrying William to Torbay, an essential qualification for Scots on the make; Argyll it was who offered him the Crown and administered the coronation oath. As

  for Atholl, his grasping family would in its turn take both sides or neither up to the last Jacobite rising in 1745. When Claverhouse had passed through its territory on the Highland line, marching

  to Killiecrankie, it made no move. By contrast, Hamilton, premier peer of the Lowlands, ‘the person of the first quality and most interest in the nation’, was a gentleman of the

  bedchamber to James VII and refused to desert him: ‘I cannot violate my duty to my master. I must distinguish between his Popery and his Person.’ The young Queensberry, then Lord Drumlanrig, had left his mark on his native heath in the south of Scotland by going out to hunt Covenanters with Claverhouse. Also initially loyal to James VII, he soon

  reversed his position. According to the memoir of the Jacobite, George Lockhart of Carnwath, Queensberry was ‘the first Scotsman that deserted over to the Prince of Orange, and from thence

  acquired the epithet (among honest men) of Proto-rebel’. Indeed, he ‘has ever since been so faithful to the revolution party . . . that he laid hold on all occasions to oppress the

  royal party and interest’.24




  A dozen years later and they had all moved on. A new Duke of Hamilton, James, succeeded in 1698 and found himself, for such a great lord, rather a poor man. His mother, strong-willed Dowager

  Duchess Anne, lived on and grudged him his allowance from their lands in Lanarkshire. Still, her son would soon make his name in parliamentary opposition to the Court, as leader of the Country

  party, to use the contemporary term. Of his rivals Tullibardine, heir of Atholl, had by the unexacting standards of the time kept his nose cleanest and advanced furthest in royal favour. That

  antagonised his rivals Argyll and Queensberry. By 1698 they had overborne him and touchy Tullibardine was to be driven by dismay over Darien still deeper into patriotic disaffection. Then Argyll,

  just after he had been raised to a dukedom in 1701, broke with Queensberry and at the king’s death was rallying his own faction in Parliament, at least in the time he could spare from his

  women and his horses.




  From these broils Queensberry came out for now on top. His father had been James VII’s trusty taxman, extracting cash from every conceivable source and, by the way, siphoning off enough to

  build himself a splendid baroque palace at Drumlanrig in Dumfriesshire as well as a townhouse in Edinburgh in the elegant style of a Parisian hôtel particulier, today a portal to the

  new Scottish Parliament. The son, in a reversal typical of the man and the age, chose the Presbyterian side, if without neglecting to profess toleration for Episcopalians – at least he

  persuaded Carstares that this was his position and so won the ear of King William. To husbanding his inheritance the younger Queensberry preferred spending it, for example on anyone by his own name

  of Douglas. But his costly subversion of rivals paid off. In the parliamentary session of 1699 he became Lord High Commissioner, or king’s representative, chairing proceedings and signifying

  royal assent to the laws. The tragedy of Darien was just unfolding yet he managed to damp down the outcry, if only within the walls of Parliament House.




  With no less skill and guile, Queensberry would eventually carry the Union. He ought to count as one of the great figures of Scottish history but he was not easy to get

  close to, then or now. On good days he showed the irrepressible spirit of the parvenu, on bad days lapsed into unctuous coldness. Ruthless and covetous, yet friendly and funny, a deep streak of

  dishonesty helped him to plot devious paths to distant goals because he could see through his fellows’ lesser concerns. ‘To outward appearance he was of a gentle and good

  disposition,’ wrote Lockhart, ‘but inwardly a very devil, standing at nothing to advance his own interest and designs.’ Still, it is precisely this identification of the public

  good with a private advantage that often, however objectionable, changes history.




  For now, at any rate, Queensberry was the best manager of the Scots Parliament to be found, though even his pliancy would be baffled from time to time. King William had long been seeking such a

  man and during the following years kept him on as Lord High Commissioner. Just from doing a job for his monarch he acquired skills as a political operator. But the eventual effect was to pull

  together various factions of the opposition, arisen on different grounds, into a more formidable force. He faced a mounting wave of hostility and obstruction in the parliamentary sessions of 1700

  and 1701.




  Casual provocation from Westminster hardly helped. There in 1701 the Act of Settlement was passed to cover the prospect if the heir-apparent to the throne, Anne, herself should die without an

  heir, as now seemed probable. The succession would then devolve on the next Protestant in line, Sophia, Electress of Hanover, an elderly granddaughter of James VI and I. Like any English Act this

  one was without force in Scotland and Scots had never been consulted about it. Yet it roped them into the limitations it imposed on the Hanoverian successor. It stated, for example, that ‘no

  person who shall hereafter come to the possession of the crown shall go out of the Dominions of England, Scotland and Ireland without the consent of Parliament’. One among the indignant

  retorts of the Scots was to refrain from defining the succession, now and for as long as possible afterwards. That annoyed and alarmed English politicians who feared Scotland might one day spurn

  the Electress of Hanover to recall the Old Pretender, together with the foreign forces he was bound to bring with him. So every effort had to be made to secure the same succession in both nations.

  There appeared to be an easy way and a hard way. The easy way was to bring such pressure to bear on the Scottish Parliament that it would see for itself the high cost of

  any alternative to Hanover. The hard way was Union.




  During that session of 1701 the Scots Parliament also heard rumours of war. There had been wars enough between Scotland and England in the previous century but none between Scotland and any

  continental power, or at least none of Scotland’s declaring. England often fought European wars, however. Scotland was then dragged willy-nilly into them, to suffer from embargoes enforced by

  the English navy and from depredations of fierce French privateers let loose on what Scottish shipping still ventured to sail. The result was ruinous for trade and in general for the economy: Scots

  paid the high price of decisions taken in London.




  The Revolution had improved nothing here. William of Orange spent the first years of his reign preoccupied with more war, till exhaustion on all sides brought a respite in the Treaty of Ryswick

  of 1697. Up to then Louis XIV had refused to recognise William’s title to his British Crowns. Now he agreed to, though without repudiating the claims of James VII and II. The compromise was

  that Louis would not help anyone to overthrow William. James felt betrayed and Louis ashamed at being driven to this by his need of peace. He sought to atone for it, with a final gesture after

  James’s death in immediate recognition of his son, the Old Pretender, as successor to the thrones of England, Scotland and Ireland. War then threatened again. It would break out in the spring

  of 1702 and be known as the War of the Spanish Succession. It was also in effect the War of the English Succession, not to speak of the Scottish Succession. In Scotland, with all this trouble

  brewing, Queensberry would be bound to find the next legislative session tough. William understood that, yet knew of nobody else to trust as his Lord High Commissioner. It was a reason why the

  king, in the days just before his death, had turned to advocating Union.
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  Such were the circumstances in which Anne became Queen of Scots. She succeeded without fuss, as in England. She knew Scotland a little. In her younger days she had spent ten

  months in Edinburgh while her father did his viceregal stint there. She found the city dull and the Scots ‘strange people’. No wonder she would never come north during her reign,

  doubtless fearing the land of her fathers might present to her blank gaze far too many of ‘these unreasonable Scotsmen’.25 A Stewart

  she may have been but she was to all intents and purposes wholly English.26 Scots loyal to the legitimate line of her

  house yet accepted her as a temporary expedient to keep the throne warm for the boy James while she advanced Tory causes, as she meant to do anyway out of personal predilection. According to her

  the Church of England was ‘the only true Church’.27 Through go-betweens she kept up some contact with the exiles at St Germain. Her

  aims were not necessarily what Jacobites assumed them to be. Her character as a Tory could be in no doubt, all the same.




  At the time of her accession Anne was thirty-seven years old, fat, plain, not too bright, with lesbian tendencies; she no longer got much pleasure out of life and consoled herself with brandy

  from a tea-cup. Set against these handicaps she showed a strong sense of duty and a deep piety. They made up for much, because it is in general to the good that British monarchs should not be too

  brilliant or dashing. They have, after all, to work with humdrum politicians disliking to be outwitted or outshone. For listless Anne, not least in the matter of Union, it was a matter of dogged

  does it, though in her life to date her stolid persistence had brought her little but frustration, indeed only pain in her role of mother or, more to the point, provider of an heir to the throne.

  Her husband, the drunken, genial, feckless Prince George of Denmark, impregnated her eighteen times but just five of the babies survived birth and of these the longest-lived, Prince William of

  Gloucester, had already died at the age of ten in 1700. Now her childbearing days were over. She turned in effect into a chronic invalid, not just physically afflicted but also mentally haunted by

  her desertion of her father in 1688, by quarrels with her sister unhealed at the time of Mary’s death in 1694 and by her inability to effect any sort of reconciliation with her half-brother,

  the Old Pretender. Clear in any event was that she could not in her own body resolve the question of succession to the British Crowns, any more than the childless William and Mary had done.




  Anne had so far played next to no part in politics and remained almost unknown outside a circle of intimates. But she set off resolutely enough and dismissed the Whig Ministers she inherited.

  She replaced them with Tories or men sympathetic to Tories, notably John Churchill, Duke of Marlborough, and Sidney Godolphin, the one the greatest soldier, the other among the greatest fiscal

  experts of the day. A rank of Captain-general was created for Marlborough in view of the imminent European conflict. He soon usurped control of foreign policy as well from the Secretaries of State,

  while his brother George took charge of the navy. The range of qualities in Godolphin made him in essence the queen’s most senior civil servant, brilliant if testy,

  with the experience and capacity to run the government’s finances, patronage, domestic policy and relations with Scotland (the rest of his time was his own; he liked nothing so much as a

  flutter on the horses). He had as little knowledge as most Englishmen of the Scots, though he knew what he wanted: a stable Scotland. But stability was not something Scotland offered.




  As Queen of Scots, Anne’s first action was to send, with official notice of her accession from London, a letter to her councillors in Edinburgh. It continued all existing royal

  commissions, civil and military, gave an assurance of her care for the Protestant religion and for the government of the Kirk established by law. It also sought advice on what to do about one

  ticklish matter, the sitting Scottish Parliament.




  In England the rule was that death of a monarch dissolved the last Parliament called in the reign, and a fresh election took place on writs issued in the name of the new monarch. This rule

  overrode the Triennial Act (1694) which for the first time laid down a maximum term for Parliaments of three years. In 1701 there had actually been two General Elections. Even so, England went to

  the polls once again after Anne’s accession. In the Commons the Whig majority of the Glorious Revolution had been melting away. Now voters responded to Anne’s known preference and gave

  a thumping victory to the Tories.28




  Things were nowhere near so easy in Scotland. In the summer of 1689 the Scottish Convention which ratified the Revolution had been without further ado turned into a Parliament and continued to

  sit for the rest of William’s reign. Nor was it dissolved by the mere fact of his death. It stood at that moment adjourned, and an Act of 1696 provided for it in such a case to meet within

  twenty days and to remain in existence for up to six months longer if a new election did not follow at once; meanwhile its powers were limited to securing the succession without altering the

  constitution.29 Yet neither early meeting nor quick election held much charm for Anne or, more to the point, for Queensberry the Lord High

  Commissioner, one of the Scots before whom she had just sworn the coronation oath in London. He knew what he was in for during the next parliamentary session. He did not want to defend to it the

  Hanoverian succession or an imminent war. An election, on the other hand, seemed likely just to return a yet bigger opposition waxing in ferocity towards him. The twenty days must have seemed to

  him far too short a time to assess, let alone solve the problem. The first thing was to get Anne to prolong the old Parliament.




  In her message to Edinburgh, the queen therefore invited the privy council to think of some way out of the quandary. It obliged. It returned the ingenious but unfounded

  opinion that she could keep to the letter of the law if within twenty days she should command an adjournment of the Parliament rather than a summons to it; then it need not meet at the precise time

  appointed in the Act. She followed the advice, and the Parliament did not reconvene till June 9.




  It was regrettable, to say the least, that foreign affairs meanwhile overtook these little local difficulties in Scotland. Even before William’s death Europe had been drifting towards war.

  Louis XIV was weighing up whether he should really try to grab the entire inheritance on three continents bequeathed to his own grandson in 1700 by the last degenerate Habsburg reigning in Madrid,

  Charles II; this would defy the international understanding that the Spanish empire should be partitioned on the extinction of the old dynasty. Now, under Anne, the expected hostilities broke out.

  In fact, with Louis proving stubborn, she declared war on him. The Dutch Republic and the Holy Roman Emperor allied with her. The struggle over the decade it was to last would weaken France just as

  it contributed to Britain’s rise as a European power. In England it proved from the start a popular war, fought in defence of the Protestant succession, a matter of concern to the people as

  William’s wars in Europe, using British troops, never had been. Yet the queen consulted the English Parliament beforehand.




  In Scotland, with the token delay of a fortnight, the privy council merely proclaimed on May 30 that Scotland was at war with France. It did so just ten days ahead of the date set for the

  Parliament to meet again, and it surely could have waited for that. Scotland was being dragged into hostilities once more for the recruits she could supply, to Dutch as well as to British armies,

  and because of the absolute necessity of keeping her out of the French camp, into which she might be propelled by Louis XIV’s material and moral aid to Jacobites.




  This Scottish declaration of war by royal prerogative, legal in itself, yet relied on the illegality of adjourning the old Parliament to a date further into the new reign than allowed for by

  statute. The legerdemain and the inequality with England put members journeying for the session to Edinburgh in yet fouler mood as they wound themselves up for another confrontation with

  Queensberry. He had a list of instructions from Anne modest enough to seem to him perhaps attainable. Proceedings would be kept short and business confined to essentials. It would ratify

  Anne’s right and title to the throne. It would grant her supply, since as ever her Scottish government had no money. It would pass Acts securing Kirk and Protestant

  succession. And it would pass an Act for negotiating a Union. Then the members could go home. All these measures might be presented as pieties towards the glorious memory of King William. The

  dispatch of business left unfinished at his death was, it could be suggested, the least the Scots Parliament ought to do by way of tribute to him.
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